

#### NEW MEXICO BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICAL EXAMINERS New Mexico Regulation and Licensing Department BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS DIVISION

Toney Anaya Building • 2550 Cerrillos Road • PO Box 25101 • Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504 (505) 476-4622 • Fax (505) 476-4665 • www.RLD.state.nm.us/boards

#### **REGULAR BOARD MEETING**

Friday, September 30, 2016 Toney Anaya Building, Regulation & Licensing 2550 Cerrillos Road, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor, Rio Grande Room Santa Fe, New Mexico

#### **"DRAFT MINUTES"**

MEMBERS PRESENT:	Jeremy Edmonds, DO, Chairman William Barkman, DO, Vice-Chairman R. Dale Tinker, Public Member James Baum, Professional Member
MEMBERS ABSENT:	Robert Noyes-Smith, Public Member
BOARD STAFF:	Gabriella Romero, Board Administrator Lori Chavez, Asst. Attorney General

#### 1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Chairman Dr. Edmonds called the meeting to order at 10:17 a.m. Roll call was taken and it was determined that a quorum was present.

#### 2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Dr. Barkman **MOTIONED** to approve the agenda. Dr. Baum **SECONDED** the motion. Motion **PASSED** by unanimous decision.

#### 3. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES

Mr. Tinker **MOTIONED** to approve the minutes of the March 11, 2016 Board Meeting. Dr. Barkman **SECONDED** the motion. Motion **PASSED** by unanimous decision.

#### 4. NEW BUSINESS

#### A. Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP)

A presentation on the prescription monitoring program (PMP) and the 2015 New Mexico Drug Overdose Death statistics was made by Jim Davis, Drug Epidemiologist from the Department of Health. Brianna Herron from the Department of Health was also present.

#### **B. HERO Trails Presentation**

Brianna Herron from the Department of Health spoke about Hero Trails and Academic Detailing's onsite education outreach programs that they offer.

#### C. Ratifications & Approval of New Licensees

Dr. Barkman **MOTIONED** to approve the new licensees issued March 8, 2016 to September 23, 2016 as presented to the Board and is attached to the minutes as Exhibit "A". Mr. Tinker **SECONDED** the motion. Motion **PASSED** by unanimous decision.

# D. Dr. Musselman Emergency Deferral Request

Mr. Tinker made a **MOTION** to have Ms. Romero send a letter to Dr. Musselman denying his request for an emergency deferral to obtain necessary CE's. Due to the denial, his license will be cancelled; however, pursuant to New Mexico Board of Osteopathic Medical Examiners Statute NMAC 61-10-21A, he may reinstate his license by submitting a reinstatement application and paying the appropriate fees to the board. In addition, the board requests an updated physician competency statement of the licensee. Dr. Barkman **SECONDED** the motion which was **PASSED** by unanimous decision.

## E. Proposed Rule Changes

Discussion was made on the proposed language for 16.17. NMAC Prescribing and Distribution of Controlled Substances Part 7 Definitions and Part 10 Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP) Requirements rule.

Mr. Tinker made a **MOTION** that the board notice for hearing with the changes as presented to the board in Exhibit "B" adding definitions for "delegate" and "practitioner" to Part 7 and to repeal and replace 16.17 NMAC Part 10 as shown in Exhibit "B". Dr. Barkman **SECONDED** the motion. Motion **PASSED** by unanimous decision.

## F. Senate Bill 105 – Expedited Occupational and Professional Licensing

Discussion was made on expedited occupational and professional licensing. Mr. Tinker made a **MOTION** to discuss this rule along with the other rules that were proposed to integrate the statutory changes of Senate Bill 78. Dr. Barkman **SECONDED** the motion. Motion **PASSED** by unanimous decision.

## 5. OLD BUSINESS

**Physician Supervisor of Pharmacist Clinician & Change of Supervising Physician Application.** Ms. Romero presented to new application for the Physician Supervisor of Pharmacist Clinician and Change of Supervising Physician application to the Board. Informational item no action was taken.

- 6. Public Comment There was no public comment
- 7. EXECUTIVE SESSION No Executive Session.

# 8. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT

Ms. Romero updated the Board and provided them with a status sheet.

#### 9. ADJOURNMENT

Dr. Baum MOTIONED to adjourn the meeting at 3:32 p.m. Dr. Barkman **SECONDED** the motion. Motion **PASSED** by unanimous decision.

Submitted by:

Gabriella Romero, Board Administrator

Date

Approved by: \_\_\_\_

Dr. Jeremy Edmonds, Chair

Date

## NEW MEXICO OSTEOPATHIC MEDICAL EXAMINERS

# NEW LICENSES ISSUED MARCH 8, 2016 to SEPTEMBER 23, 2016

License Type	License #	Issue Date	full name
Doctor of Osteopathy (64)			
	A-1952-16	4/13/2016	Steven Joshua Holley, DO
	A-1942-16	3/23/2016	Janet Lynn Kirk, DO
	A-1945-16	3/30/2016	Simon Eduard Meykler, DO
	A-1946-16	3/30/2016	Erich Hugh Muckala, DO
	A-1939-16	3/8/2016	Donald Howard Tait
	A-1968-16	5/25/2016	Brittany Leigh Collins, DO
	A-1976-16	6/2/2016	Lynn Ann Crocker
	A-1990-16	7/25/2016	Sandeep Chandu Sangodkar, DO
	A-1970-16	5/27/2016	Blavir Rukov, DO
	A-1949-16	4/11/2016	James A Hall, DO
	A-1944-16	3/30/2016	Emily Elizabeth Drummond, DO
	A-1977-16	6/2/2016	Dorothy Ann Habrat, DO
	A-1972-16	6/2/2016	Jared Russel Fuller, DO
	A-1966-16	5/23/2016	David James Fitzgerald, DO
	A-1983-16	6/28/2016	Annagreta Bowen Davis, DO
	A-1963-16	5/13/2016	Michael Lee Schreiber, DO
	A-1967-16	5/25/2016	Ralph Pinchinat
	A-1937-16	3/8/2016	Nicholas G Bull, DO
	A-1943-16	3/28/2016	Scott Samuel Cyrus, DO
	A-1957-16	5/2/2016	Michael Vincent Yao, DO
	A-1965-16	5/18/2016	Jonathan Brent Hancock, DO
	A-1950-16	4/13/2016	Rex Marcus Newton, DO
	A-1953-16	4/14/2016	Timothy Clark Bray, DO
	A-1938-16	3/8/2016	Brooke Michelle White, DO
	A-1982-16	6/28/2016	David M Jacobson, DO
	A-1948-16	4/6/2016	Shana Nisenbaum, DO
	A-1979-16	6/21/2016	Steven Hillam
	A-1974-16	6/2/2016	Sara Elizabeth Thorp
	A-1961-16	5/6/2016	Dharam Pal Khalsa, DO
	A-1962-16	5/12/2016	Lee Dudley, DO
	A-1986-16	7/11/2016	Carmen Felicia Alfonso
	A-1999-16	8/2/2016	Rodney Allen Kernes, DO
	A-1969-16	5/25/2016	Mark Andrew Himes, DO
	A-1955-16	4/22/2016	Sarah JO Burns, DO
	A-1989-16	7/25/2016	Franklin Richard Darrow, DO
	A-1981-16	6/28/2016	Semah Beheshti Zavareh
	A-1994-16	7/29/2016	Simran Kaur Brar
	A-2000-16	8/10/2016	Bret Joseph Bitza
	A-1992-16	7/27/2016	Weiwei Dai

New Mexico Regulation and Licensing Department BOARDS AND COMMISSION DIVISION Page 3 of 9

	A-1993-16	7/27/2016	Duangnapa Somsuppaphon Cuddy
	A-1996-16	7/29/2016	Michael Anthony Hoks
	A-1991-16	7/25/2016	Kelly R Glenn
	A-1997-16	7/29/2016	Benjamin Daniel Johnson
	A-1988-16	7/21/2016	Gergory Arthur Zakas
	A-1975-16	6/2/2016	Paulette P Bennett, DO
	A-1951-16	4/13/2016	Benjamin Thomas Salazar-Chatt, DO
	A-1936-16	3/8/2016	Courtney Kathleen Hopkins, DO
	A-1956-16	4/22/2016	Michael Richard Jarvis, DO
	A-1980-16	6/23/2016	George Polanco, DO
	A-1987-16	7/19/2016	Beverly Jane Stern, DO
	A-1964-16	5/13/2016	Amy C. Cruickshank
	A-1978-16	6/17/2016	Laura E. Bishop
	A-2001-16	8/19/2016	Nachum Ozeri
	A-2002-16	8/30/2016	James Toldi
	A-1998-16	7/29/2016	Valerie Doyle
	A-1995-16	7/29/2016	Colin M Donovan
	A-1984-16	7/7/2016	Gurdeep Singh
	A-1985-16	7/7/2016	Jefrey Start
	A-1973-16	6/2/2016	Jon Wei-Chaun Fong
	A-1941-16	3/16/2016	Ray Byron Jensen, DO
	A-1947-16	4/4/2016	Brent Jason Gear, DO
	A-1971-16	5/27/2016	Lynn Tyson Sloan, DO
	A-1958-16	5/3/2016	Yakov Joshua Gizersky, DO
	A-1954-16	4/22/2016	Jacquelyn Blackstone, DO
Physician Assistant (2)			
	PA-110	3/28/2016	Jeremy Richard Kersey, PA
	PA-111	6/17/2016	Jamie C. Sladen

# EXHIBIT "A"

# TITLE 16OCCUPATIONAL AND PROFESSIONAL LICENSINGCHAPTER 17OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE AND SURGERY PRACTITIONERSPART 5PRESCRIBING AND DISTRIBUTION OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES

**16.17.5.1 ISSUING AGENCY:** Regulation and Licensing Department - NM Board of Osteopathic Medical Examiners.

[16.17.5.1 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

**16.17.5.2 SCOPE:** This part applies to all licensed osteopathic physicians. [16.17.5.2 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

**16.17.5.3 STATUTORY AUTHORITY:** These rules of practice and procedure govern the practice of osteopathic medicine in New Mexico and are promulgated pursuant to and in accordance with the Osteopathic Medicine and Surgery Act, Sections 61-10-1 through 61-10 -23 NMSA 1978 and the Pain Relief Act, sections 24-2D-1,NMSA thru 24- 2D-6. [16.17.5.3 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

# 16.17.5.4 **DURATION:** Permanent.

[16.17.5.4 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

**16.17.5.5 EFFECTIVE DATE:** March 16, 2014, unless a later date is cited at the end of a section. [16.17.5.5 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

**16.17.5.6 OBJECTIVE:** It is the position of the board that osteopathic physicians have an obligation to treat pain and that a wide variety of medicines including controlled substances and other drugs may be prescribed for that purpose. When such medicines and drugs are used they should be prescribed in adequate doses and for appropriate lengths of time after a thorough medical evaluation has been completed. [16.17.5.6 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

## **16.17.5.7 DEFIITIONS:**

**A.** "Acute pain" means the normal predicted physiological response to a noxious chemical or thermal or mechanical stimulus typically associated with invasive procedures, trauma, or disease and is generally time limited.

**B.** "**Chronic pain**" means a pain that persists after reasonable efforts have been made to relieve the pain or its cause and that continues, either continuously or episodically for longer than three consecutive months. "Chronic pain" does not, for the purpose of the Pain Relief Act requirements, include pain associated with a terminal condition.

**C. "Pain"** means acute or chronic pain or both.

**D.** "Clinical pain expert" means a person who by reason of specialized education or substantial relevant experience in pain management, has knowledge regarding current standards, practices and guidelines.

**E. "Drug abuser"** means a person who takes a drug or drugs for other than legitimate medical purposes.

**F. "Physical dependence"** means a state of adaptation that is manifested by a drug-specific withdrawal syndrome that can be produced by abrupt cessation, rapid dose reduction, decreasing blood level of the drug, administration of n antagonist, or a combination of these.

**G. "Tolerance"** means a state of adaptation in which exposure to a drug induces changes that result in a diminution of one or more of the drug's effects over time.

**H. "Addiction**" is a neurobehavioral syndrome with genetic and environmental influences that results in psychological dependence on the use of substances for their psychic effects. It is characterized by behaviors that include one or more of the following: impaired control over drug use; compulsive use; continued use despite harm; and, craving. Physical dependence and tolerance are normal physiological consequences of extended opioid therapy for pain and should not by themselves be considered addiction.

**I. "Prescription monitoring program"** means a centralized system to collect, monitor, and analyze electronically, for controlled substances, prescribing and dispensing data submitted by pharmacies and dispensing practitioners. The data are used to support efforts in education, research, enforcement and abuse prevention.

J. "Prescribe" means to issue an order individually for the person for whom prescribed, either directly from the prescriber to the pharmacist or indirectly by means of a written order signed by the prescriber bearing the name and address of the prescriber, license classification, the name and address of the patient, the name of the drug prescribed, direction for use and the date of issue.

**K. "Administer"** means to apply a prepackaged drug directly to the body of a patient by any means.

**L. "Dispense"** means to deliver a drug directly to a patient and includes the compounding, labeling and repackaging of a drug from a bulk or original container.

**M. "Distribute"** means to administer or supply to a patient under the direct care of the distributing physician assistant one or more doses of drugs prepackaged by a licensed pharmacist and excludes the compounding or repackaging from a bulk or original container.

**N. "Formulary"** means any dangerous drugs; including Schedule II-V controlled substances, physicians may use in the care of patients where there is an established physician-patient relationship.

**O. "Established physician-patient relationship"** means a relationship between a physician and a patient that is for the purpose of maintaining the patient's well-being. At a minimum, this relationship is established by an interactive encounter between patient and physician involving an appropriate history and physical or mental status examination sufficient to make a diagnosis and to provide, prescribe or recommend treatment, with the informed consent from the patient and availability of the physician or physician assistant or coverage for the patient for appropriate follow-up care. A medical record must be generated by the encounter.

**P.** "Licensed osteopathic physician" means an osteopathic physician licensed by the New Mexico osteopathic board of examiners to practice medicine in New Mexico.

Q. "Delegate" means a person designated by ta practitioner pursuant to {03-22-2015} for the purpose of requesting and receiving PMP reports for that practitioner.

<u>R.</u> "Practitioner" means a New Mexico Osteopathic Medical Board licensee maintaining licensure pursuant to state law that allows that individual to prescribe, order, administer or dispense controlled substances to patients. See 16.29.29.7 NMAC {03-22-2015}

#### [16.17.5.7 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

**16.17.5.8 GUIDELINES:** The following regulations shall be used by the board to determine whether an osteopathic physician's prescriptive practices are consistent with the appropriate treatment of pain.

**A.** The treatment of pain with various medicines or controlled substances is a legitimate medical practice when accomplished in the usual course of professional practice. It does not preclude treatment of patients with addiction, physical dependence or tolerance who have legitimate pain. However, such patients do require very close monitoring and precise documentation.

**B.** The prescribing, ordering, administering or dispensing of controlled substances to meet the individual needs of the patient for management of chronic pain is appropriate if prescribed, ordered, administered or dispensed in compliance with the following.

(1) A practitioner shall complete a physical examination and include an evaluation of the patient's psychological and pain status. The medical history shall include any previous history of significant pain, past history of alternate treatments for pain, potential for substance abuse, coexisting disease or medical conditions, and the presence of a medical indication or contra-indication against the use of controlled substances.

(2) A practitioner shall be familiar with and employ screening tools as appropriate, as well as the spectrum of available modalities, in the evaluation and management of pain. The practitioner shall consider an integrative approach to pain management.

(3) A written treatment plan shall be developed and tailored to the individual needs of the patient, taking age, gender, culture, and ethnicity into consideration, with stated objectives by which treatment can be evaluated, e.g. by degree of pain relief, improved physical and psychological function, or other accepted measure. Such a plan shall include a statement of the need for further testing, consultation, referral or use of other treatment modalities.

(4) The practitioner shall discuss the risks and benefits of using controlled substances with the patient, or surrogate, or guardian, and shall document this discussion in the record.

(5) Complete and accurate records of care provided and drugs prescribed shall be maintained. When controlled substances are prescribed, the name of the drug, quantity, prescribed dosage and number of refills authorized should be recorded. Prescriptions for opioids shall include indications for use. For chronic non-cancer pain patients treated with controlled substance and analgesic(s), the prescribing practitioner shall use a written agreement for treatment with the patient outlining patient responsibilities. As part of a written agreement, chronic non-cancer pain patients shall receive all chronic pain management prescriptions from one practitioner and one pharmacy whenever possible.

(6) The management of patients needing chronic pain control requires monitoring by the attending or the consulting practitioner. The practitioner shall periodically review the course of treatment for chronic non-cancer pain, the patient's state of health, and any new information about the etiology of the chronic non-cancer pain at least every six months. In addition, a practitioner shall consult, when indicated by the patient's condition, with a clinical pain expert. Consultation should occur early in the course of long-term treatment and at reasonable intervals during continued long-term treatment for assessment of benefit and need a minimum of once e-very six months.

(7) If, in a practitioner's medical opinion, a patient is seeking pain medication for reasons that are not medically justified, the practitioner is not required to prescribe controlled substances for the patient.

C. Pain management for patients with substance abuse disorders shall include:

- (1) a contractual agreement;
- (2) appropriate consultation;

(3) urine or hair or salivary or blood drug screening shall be considered when other factors suggest an elevated risk of misuse or diversion; and

(4) a schedule for re-evaluation at appropriate time intervals at least every six months.

**D.** The board will evaluate the quality of care on the following basis: appropriate diagnosis and evaluation; appropriate medical indication for the treatment prescribed; documented change or persistence of the recognized medical indication; and, follow-up evaluation with appropriate continuity of care. The board will judge the validity of prescribing based on the practitioner's treatment of the patient and on available documentation, rather than on the quantity and chronicity of prescribing. The goal is to control the patient's pain for its duration while effectively addressing other aspects of the patient's functioning, including physical, psychological, social, and work related factors.

**E.** The board will review both over-prescription and under-prescription of pain medications using the same standard of patient protection as a guiding principle.

**F.** Any physician that prescribes opiate based pain medication, shall obtain at least six CME credits in pain management over a three year period.

**G.** Any physician that prescribes opiate based pain medication shall utilize the state based prescription monitoring program at the initial office visit which results in a prescription for an opiate based pain medication, and at least at yearly intervals and at critical turning points in patient care.

**H.** A practitioner who appropriately prescribes controlled substances and who follows this section would be considered to be in compliance with this rule and not be subject to discipline by the board, unless there is some violation of the Osteopathic Medicine and Surgery Practice Act or board rules. [16.17.5.8 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

**16.17.5.9 PHYSICIANS TREATED WITH OPIATES:** Physicians who have chronic pain and are being treated with opiates shall be evaluated by a pain clinic or, by an M.D. or D.O. pain specialist, and must have a complete, independent neuropsychological evaluation, as well as clearance from their physician, before returning to or continuing in practice. In addition, they must remain under the care of a physician for as long as they remain on opiates while continuing to practice.

[16.17.5.9 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

**16.17.5.10 PRESCRIPTION MONITORING PROGRAM (PMP) REQUIREMENTS:** The intent of the New Mexico osteopathic medical board in requiring participation in the PMP is to assist practitioners in balancing the promotion of the safe use of controlled substances for the provision of medical care and services with the need to impede illegal and harmful activities involving these pharmaceuticals.

**A**. A health care practitioner who holds a federal drug enforcement administration registration and licensure to prescribe opioids shall register with the board of pharmacy to become a regular participant in PMP inquiry and reporting.

**B.** A health care practitioner shall, before prescribing, ordering, administering or dispensing a controlled substance listed in schedule II, III or IV, obtain a patient PMP report for the preceding 12 months when the patient is a new patient of the practitioner.

**C.** Prescription monitoring reports shall be requested and reviewed a minimum of once every six months during the continuous use of opioids for each established patient. The practitioner shall document the review of these reports.

#### [16.17.5.10 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

The intent of the *New Mexico Board of Osteopathic Medicine* in requiring participation in the PMP is to assist practitioners in balancing the safe use of controlled substances with the need to impede harmful and illegal activities involving these pharmaceuticals.

- A. <u>Any practitioner who holds a federal drug enforcement administration registration and a New Mexico controlled</u> <u>substance registration shall register with the board of pharmacy to become a regular participant in PMP inquiry</u> <u>and reporting.</u>
- **B.** <u>A practitioner may authorize delegate(s) to access the prescription monitoring report consistent with board of pharmacy regulation NMAC 16.19.29</u>. While a practitioner's delegate may obtain a report from the state's prescription monitoring program, the practitioner is solely responsible for reviewing the prescription monitoring report and documenting the receipt and review of a report in the patient's medical record.
- C. Before a practitioner prescribes or dispenses for the first time, a controlled substance in Schedule II, III, IV, or V to a patient for a period greater than four (4) days, or if there is a gap in prescribing the controlled substance for thirty (30) days or more, the practitioner shall review a prescription monitoring report for the patient for the preceding twelve (12) months. When available, the practitioner shall review similar reports from adjacent states. The practitioner shall document the receipt and review of such reports in the patient's medical record.
- D. A prescription monitoring report shall be reviewed a minimum of once every three (3) months during the continuous use of a controlled substance in Schedule II, III,IV or V for each patient. The practitioner shall document the review of these reports in the patient's medical record. Nothing in this section shall be construed as preventing a practitioner from reviewing prescription monitoring reports with greater frequency than that required by this section.
- E. <u>A practitioner does not have to obtain and review a prescription monitoring report before prescribing, ordering, or dispensing a controlled substance in Schedule II, III, IV or V:</u>
  - 1) For a period of four (4) days or less; or
  - 2) To a patient in a nursing facility; or
  - 3) To a patient in hospice care.
- **F.** <u>Upon review of a prescription monitoring report for a patient, the practitioner shall identify and be aware of a patient currently:</u>

1)<u>Receiving opioids from multiple prescribers;</u>

- 2) Receiving opioids and benzodiazepines concurrently;
- 3)<u>Receiving opioids for more than twelve (12) consecutive weeks:</u>
- 4)<u>Receiving more than one controlled substance analgesic;</u>
- 5)<u>Receiving opioids totaling more than 90 morphine milligram equivalents per day;</u>
- 6) Exhibiting potential for abuse or misuse of opioids and other controlled substances, such as over-utilization, requests to fill early, requests for specific opioids, requests to pay cash when insurance is available, receiving opioids from multiple pharmacies.
- G. Upon recognizing any of the above conditions described in paragraph F, the practitioner, using professional judgement based on prevailing standards of practice, shall take action as appropriate to prevent, mitigate, or resolve any potential problems or risks that may result in opioid misuse, abuse, or overdose. These steps may involve counseling the patient on known risks and realistic benefits of opioid therapy, prescription and training for naloxone, consultation with or referral to a pain management specialist, or offering or arranging treatment for opioid or substance use disorder. The practitioner shall document actions taken to prevent, mitigate, or resolve the potential problems or risks.

**16.17.5.11 NON-CANCER PAIN MANAGEMENT CONTINUING EDUCATION:** This section applies to all New Mexico osteopathic board licensed physicians who hold a federal drug enforcement administration registration and licensure to prescribe opioids. Pursuant to the Pain Relief Act, in order to ensure that all such health care practitioners safely prescribe for pain management and harm reduction, the following rules shall apply.

**A.** On or before July 1, 2014 all New Mexico osteopathic medical board licensees who hold a federal drug enforcement administration registration and licensure to prescribe opioids, shall complete no less than two continuing medical education hours in appropriate courses that include a review of 16.17.5 NMAC, management of the treatment of pain, an understanding of the pharmacology and risks of controlled substances, a basic awareness of the problems of abuse, addiction and diversion, and awareness of state and federal regulations for the prescription of controlled substances. All such courses are subject to board approval. Practitioners who have taken continuing education hours in the two years prior to July 1, 2014 may apply those hours toward the required two continuing education hours described in this subsection.

**B.** Beginning with the July 1, 2014 triennial renewal date, as part of the 75 continuing medical education hours required during each triennial renewal cycle, all New Mexico osteopathic board physician licensees, who hold a federal drug enforcement administration registration and license to prescribe opioids, shall be required to complete and submit six continuing education hours. Appropriate courses shall include all of the educational elements described in Subsection A of this section. All such courses are subject to board approval. These hours may be earned at any time during the three-year period immediately preceding the triennial renewal date. The two continuing medical education hours completed prior to July 1, 2014, as defined in Subsection A above, may be included as part of the required continuing medical education hours in pain management.

**C.** All New Mexico osteopathic board licensees, whether or not the New Mexico license is their first license, who hold a federal drug enforcement administration registration and license shall complete two continuing medical education hours in pain management during the first year of licensure. These two continuing medical education hours completed prior to the first renewal may be included as part of the hours required in Subsection B above.

[16.17.5.11 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

**16.17.5.12 NOTIFICATION:** In addition to the notice of procedures set forth in the State Rules Act Chapter 14, Article 14, NMSA 1978, the board shall separately notify the following persons of the Pain Relief Act and Part 17 of the New Mexico Osteopathic board rule;

A. health care practitioners under its jurisdiction; and

**B.** health care practitioners being investigated by the board in relation to the practitioner's pain management services.

[16.17.5.12 NMAC - N, 03-16-2014]

#### HISTORY OF 16.17.5 NMAC: [RESERVED]

**EXHIBIT "B"**